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INDIVIDUAL PROPERTY HISTORIC NOMINATION FORM 

1. HISTORIC NAME OF PROPERTY:                                                  

The W.J. Gilmore Drug Company Building; 
Equitable Gas Company Headquarters;  the Art 
Institute of Pittsburgh      

 

2. CURRENT NAME OF PROPERTY:  
412 Boulevard of the Allies  

3. LOCATION 

a. Street: 412 Boulevard of the Allies (per Allegheny County tax records); formerly numbered 420  

b. City, State, Zip Code: Pittsburgh, PA 15219  

c. Neighborhood: Downtown  

4. OWNERSHIP 

d. Owner(s): City of Pittsburgh, Urban Redevelopment Authority (URA), Housing Authority (HACP)   

e. Street: 200 Ross Street  

f. City, State, Zip Code: Pittsburgh, PA 15219  Phone: ()      -       

5. CLASSIFICATION AND USE – Check all that apply 

Type Ownership  Current Use:  

Structure  Private – home  Offices  

  District  Private – other         

 Site  Public – government         

 Object  Public - other          

  Place of religious worship         

  

HISTORIC REVIEW COMMISSION 
Division of Development Administration and Review  

City of Pittsburgh, Department of City Planning 
200 Ross Street, Third Floor 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219 

Fee Schedule 
Please make check payable to Treasurer, City of Pittsburgh 
Individual Landmark Nomination: $100.00 
District Nomination: $250.00 

HRC Staff Use Only 

Date Received: ................................................ 
Parcel No.: ...................................................... 
Ward: .............................................................. 
Zoning Classification: ..................................... 
Bldg. Inspector: ............................................... 
Council District: .............................................. 
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6. NOMINATED BY: 

a. Name:  Matthew W. C. Falcone  

b. Street: 1501 Reedsdale Street, Suite 5003       

c. City, State, Zip:  Pittsburgh, PA 15233  

d. Phone: (412) 256-8755  Email: mfalcone@preservationpgh.org  

7. DESCRIPTION 
Provide a narrative description of the structure, district, site, or object.  If it has been altered over time, indicate 
the date(s) and nature of the alteration(s).  (Attach additional pages as needed) 
 
If Known: 

a. Year Built: Completed in 1927  
b. Architectural Style: Late Gothic Revival /Commercial Gothic   
c. Architect/Builder: Joseph F. Kuntz, architect; W.T. Grange Construction Co., builder  

 
Narrative: See attached.  

 

8. HISTORY 
Provide a history of the structure, district, site, or object.  Include a bibliography of sources consulted. (Attach 
additional pages as needed.)  Include copies of relevant source materials with the nomination form (see Number 
11). 
 
Narrative: See attached.  

 

9. SIGNIFICANCE 
The Pittsburgh Code of Ordinances, Title 11, Historic Preservation, Chapter 1: Historic Structures, Districts, 
Sites and Objects lists ten criteria, at least one of which must be met for Historic Designation.  Describe how 
the structure, district, site, or object meets one or more of these criteria and complete a narrative discussing in 
detail each area of significance.  (Attach additional pages as needed) 

The structure, building, site, district, object is significant because of (check all that apply): 

1.  Its location as a site of a significant historic or prehistoric event or activity; 

2.  Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the 
cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development 
of the City of Pittsburgh, State of Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United 
States; 

3.  Its exemplification of an architectural type, style or design distinguished by 
innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or 
craftsmanship; 

4.  Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose 
individual work is significant in the history or development of the City of Pittsburgh, 
the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States; 

5.  Its exemplification of important planning and urban design techniques 
distinguished by innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design or detail; 
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6.  Its location as a site of an important archaeological resource; 

7.  Its association with important cultural or social aspects or events in the history of 
the City of Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United 
States; 

8.  Its exemplification of a pattern of neighborhood development or settlement 
significant to the cultural history or traditions of the City, whose components may lack 
individual distinction; 

9.  Its representation of a cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related 
theme expressed through distinctive areas, properties, sites, structures, or objects that 
may or may not be contiguous; or 

10.  Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an 
established and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of 
Pittsburgh. 

Narrative: See attached.  

10. INTEGRITY 

In addition, the ordinance specifies that “Any area, property, site, structure or object that meets any 
one or more of the criteria listed above shall also have sufficient integrity of location, design, 
materials, and workmanship to make it worthy of preservation or restoration”.  (Attach additional 
pages as needed) 

Narrative:  

11. NOTIFICATION/CONSENT OF PROPERTY OWNER(S) 

1.3(a)(2)  Community information process. 
Preceding submission of a nomination form for a District, the Historic Review Commission shall conduct 
at least one (1) public information meeting within or near the boundaries of the proposed district, which 
shall include at least one (1) member of the Department of City Planning and one (1) Commission member, 
to discuss the possible effects of designation. Notice shall be given to the owners of property in the proposed 
district in accordance with Section 1.3(b) below.  The final public information meeting shall be held no 
more than six months before the nomination form is submitted. 

1.3(a)(1)(a) Subsection F.   
In the case of a nomination as a Historic District, by community-based organizations or by any individual, 
but in either event the nomination shall be accompanied by a petition signed by the owners of record of 
twenty-five (25) percent of the properties within the boundaries of the proposed District. 

- Please attach documentation of your efforts to gain property owner’s consent.- 
 
** The nomination of any religious property shall be accompanied by a signed letter of consent from the 
property’s owner. 
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12. PHOTO LOGS: Please Attach 

13. BIBLIOGRAPHY: Please Attach 

14. NOMINATION FORM PREPARED BY: 

a. Name:  Jeff Slack, AICP, Principal, Time & Place LLC  

b. Street:  1651 Beechwood Boulevard  

c. City, State, Zip:  Pittsburgh, PA 15217  

d. Phone: (412) 802-5406       Email:  j_h_slack@yahoo.com  

 

e. Signature:   
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HISTORIC NOMINATION – INSTRUCTIONS 
 
INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILLING OUT THE NOMINATION FORM 

1. Indicate the original name of the property if it is currently known by a different name; e.g. Union Station. 

2. Indicate the current name of the property 

3. Indicate the street address for the property.  For districts, attach a separate sheet listing the street address of 
each property included in the nomination and a clear street map of the area showing the boundaries of the 
proposed district. 

4. Indicate the owner of the property and his or her mailing address.  For districts, attach a separate sheet listing 
the owner of each property and his or her mailing address. 

5. Check the classification as indicated. 

a. “Historic Structure” means anything constructed or erected, the use of which requires directly or 
indirectly, a permanent location on the land, including walks, fences, signs, steps and sidewalks at 
which events that made a significant contribution to national, state or local history occurred or which 
involved a close association with the lives of people of nations, state or local significance; or an 
outstanding example of a period, style, architectural movement, or method of construction; or one of 
the last surviving works of a pioneer architect, builder or designer; or one of the last survivors of a 
particular style or period of construction. 

 
b. “Historic District” means a defined territorial division of land which shall include more than one (1) 

contiguous or related parcels of property, specifically identified by separate resolution, at which events 
occurred that made a significant contribution to national, state, or local history, or which contains more 
than one historic structure or historic landmarks, or which contains groups, rows or sets of structures 
or landmarks, or which contains an aggregate example of a period, style, architectural movements or 
method of construction, providing distinguishing characteristics of the architectural type or 
architectural period it represents. 

 
c. “Historic Site” means the location of a significant event, a prehistoric or historic occupation or 

activity, or a building or structure whether standing, ruined or vanished, where the location itself 
maintains historical or archaeological value regardless of the value of any existing structures. 

 
d. “Historic Object” means a material thing of historic significance for functional, aesthetic cultural or 

scientific reasons that may be, by nature or design, moveable yet related to a specific setting or 
environment. 

6. Indicate the person(s) responsible for the nomination.  Please note: According to the Historic Preservation 
Ordinance: 

HISTORIC REVIEW COMMISSION 
Division of Development Administration and Review  

City of Pittsburgh, Department of City Planning 
200 Ross Street, Third Floor 

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania 15219 
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“Nomination of an area, property, site, or object for consideration and designation as a Historic Structure, 
Historic District, Historic Site, or Historic Object may be submitted to the Historic Review Commission by any 
of the following: 

a. The Mayor of the City of Pittsburgh 
b. A Member of the Historic Review Commission 
c. A Member of the City Planning Commission 
d. A Member of the Pittsburgh City Council 
e. The Owner of Record or any person residing in the City of Pittsburgh for at least one year (for the 

nomination of a Historic Structure, Site or Object) 
f. A signed petition of 25% of the owners of record (for the nomination of a Historic District) 

 
7. Write a physical description of the nominated property or district.  Include the following information as 

applicable: 
• architectural style(s) 
• arrangement of architectural elements 
• building materials 
• method(s) of construction  
• visual character 
• street pattern 
• density 
• type and arrangement of buildings 
• topography 
• history of the development of the area 

8. Provide a narrative history of the structure, district, site, or object.  Include the following information when 
available: 

• History of the development of the area; 
• Circumstances which brought the structure, district, site, or object into being; 
• Biographical information on architects, builders, developers, artisans, planners, or others 

who created or contributed to the structure, district, site, or object; 
• Contextual background on building type(s) and/or style(s); 
• Importance of the structure, district, site, or object in the larger community over the course 

of its existence. 
• Include a bibliography of all sources consulted at the end.  Where historical information is 

uncertain or disputed, reference sources in the text. 

9. Listed below are the categories and criteria for historic designation as set forth in the Pittsburgh Historic 
Preservation Ordinance.  Describe in detail how the structure, district, site, or object meets one or more of the 
criteria.  According to that legislation in Section 1.4 of the Pittsburgh Historic Preservation Ordinance, Criteria 
for Designation, a building must meet at least one of the following criteria in order to be designated: 

 
1. Its location as a site of a significant historic or prehistoric event or activity; 

 
2. Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the cultural, historic, 

architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development of the City of Pittsburgh, 
State of Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States; 
 

3. Its exemplification of an architectural type, style or design distinguished by innovation, rarity, 
uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship; 
 

4. Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose individual 
work is significant in the history or development of the City of Pittsburgh, the State of 
Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States; 
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5. Its exemplification of important planning and urban design techniques distinguished by 

innovation, rarity, uniqueness, or overall quality of design or detail; 
 

6. Its location as a site of an important archaeological resource; 
 

7. Its association with important cultural or social aspects or events in the history of the City of 
Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States; 
 

8. Its exemplification of a pattern of neighborhood development or settlement significant to the 
cultural history or traditions of the City, whose components may lack individual distinction; 
 

9. Its representation of a cultural, historic, architectural, archaeological, or related theme 
expressed through distinctive areas, properties, sites, structures, or objects that may or may not 
be contiguous; or 
 

10. Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an established 
and familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of Pittsburgh. 
 

10.  In addition, the ordinance specifies that “Any area, property, site, structure or object that meets any one or 
more of the criteria listed above shall also have sufficient integrity of location, design, materials, and 
workmanship to make it worthy of preservation or restoration.” 

11. The nomination must be accompanied by evidence that the nominator has made a good-faith effort to 
communicate his or her interest in the historic designation of this landmark or district to the owner(s) of these 
properties.  Describe how this was done, and attach evidence that the owner(s) of the nominated landmark or 
of the properties within the nominated district have been informed of the nomination.  This may include a copy 
of a notification letter with a mailing list, a letter confirming phone calls, or a petition signed by affected 
property owners. 

12. Clear photographs of the nominated buildings or districts should accompany the nomination form.  The 
applicant shall include photographs of all elevations of an individual building and its setting, or the front 
elevation of each building in a district.  In the case of closely spaced buildings or rowhouses, several buildings 
may be included in one photograph.  Each photograph must be labeled with the street address of the building(s) 
and the month and year the photograph was taken. 

13. Copies of major supporting documents should accompany the nomination form.  Such documents may include, 
but are not limited to: 

• historic photographs; 
• historic and contemporary maps; 
• historic or contemporary texts describing the subject property or district; 
• historic or contemporary texts describing people, places, or events that comprise the historic 

context of the subject property or district. 
• Oversized materials (such as architectural drawings) and materials too fragile to copy may 

be accepted. 

PLEASE NOTE:  It is the responsibility of the nominator to provide the Historic Review Commission and its Staff with 
information sufficient to fairly evaluate the nomination.  Incomplete nomination forms will not be accepted.  Fee 
must be included.  Nominations must be submitted in both electronic and hard-copy format. 
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CHECKLIST:     The Bradberry Apartment Building  

 

 #1-6 Nomination Form: Address, Ownership, Classification, Nominator Info. 

  #7: Description 

  #8: History 

  #9: Significance 

 #10 Integrity 

 #11 Consent of Property Owners 

 #12 Photographs of Property: numbered and labeled 

 #13 List of Supporting Documents 

 

 Fee 

 Hard-Copy nomination 

 Electronic nomination (Word Format for text).   

 

 

 

 

 

 



412 Boulevard of the Allies—Addenda 
 

 
A note on compass directions: Since the street grid in the southern part of Pittsburgh’s Golden Triangle is aligned 
with the Monongahela River and not the points on the compass, this document establishes a “Plan North” to simplify 
descriptions. This designation allows the top of the page/screen to be considered north, with the Boulevard of the 
Allies considered to be running east-west. The site plan in Figure 4 reflects this “plan north” orientation and also 
shows “true north” in the compass rose at the lower right. 
 
 
7. Description 
Provide a narrative description of the structure, district, site, or object. If it has been altered over time, indicate the 
date(s) and nature of the alteration(s).  
 
Introduction / Building Name 
420 Boulevard of the Allies was designed by architect Joseph Franklin Kuntz and opened in 1927 as the 
headquarters for the W.J. Gilmore Drug Company. At the time, Gilmore was one of the region’s largest wholesale 
drug companies and the building was designed to accommodate its office, manufacturing and warehouse needs. In 
2018, the Housing Authority of the City of Pittsburgh, the City of Pittsburgh, and the Urban Redevelopment 
Authority of Pittsburgh jointly purchased the building and subsequently changed the address to 412 to reflect 
Pittsburgh’s telephone area code. Therefore, throughout this nomination, the building is referred to by its current 
designation, “412 Boulevard of the Allies.” 
 
 
Site/Setting 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is located on the southern edge of Pittsburgh’s Central Business District, two blocks 
from the Monongahela River (Figures 1-3). The setting is urban, with the south side of the Boulevard of the Allies 
and narrow First Avenue to the rear containing a mix of late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century commercial 
buildings. Across the street, buildings tend to be later, as a result of Second Avenue being widened on that side to 
create the Boulevard of the Allies in 1921 (Photos 1 and 2).  
 
The building occupies the eastern two-thirds of Allegheny County Tax Parcel 1-M-150, with the western third being 
a paved parking area for the building since its inception. The parcel boundaries represent the boundaries for this 
nomination (see Site Plan, Figure 4). The parcel is bounded on the north by the Boulevard of the Allies; on the east 
by Cherry Way, a narrow alley paved in Belgian Block; on the south by First Avenue; and on the west by 
commercial properties fronting on Smithfield Street. Directly across the street, the Allies Parking Garage (1955) 
occupies the entire block. To its east is the Distrikt Hotel in the former Salvation Army Building (1924, enlarged 
1930; designed by architect Thomas Pringle). 
 
Form and Massing 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is a nine-story (116 feet tall), steel-framed office building with basement, clad in stone 
and brick, constructed in the Late Gothic Revival /Commercial Gothic style (Photo 3). When viewed from the front, 
it appears as eight stories due to a double-height vestibule with mezzanine level behind (Photo 4). The building is 
rectangular in massing, five bays wide (110 feet), eight bays deep (160 feet) and is covered by a flat roof that 
contains stair and elevator penthouses, mechanical equipment and a rooftop deck (constructed in 2017-18). 
 
Stone is used throughout the exterior—for the entirety of the front façade and for decorative elements on the east 
and south facades. Identification of the particular type of stone is difficult since the front façade and northernmost 
bays of the east and west facades appear to have been painted since at least 2007 and were recently recoated.1 
Unpainted stone on the Cherry Way façade appears to be granite. Historic newspaper accounts refer to it simply as 
“stone.” A Zoning & Development Review Application completed by Strada Architects in 2017 indicates “cast 
stone,” but the documentation behind this is unknown. 
 
  

                                                
1  Determined from historic Google Street View images. 



Front Facade 
Like many steel-framed commercial buildings of its era, 412 Boulevard of the Allies, has a tripartite vertical 
organization like a classical column, with a base, shaft and capital—but little else is classically-derived as the 
exterior is draped in Late Gothic Revival details (Photos 3 and 4). 
 
At the base of the building, six rectangular piers rest upon a projecting stone basement course, which originally 
contained “sidewall windows” to illuminate the basement (Photos 5, 8 and 9).2 These remained until at least 1963 
and are visible in an image of the building taken by Teenie Harris (Figure 44). The five bays defined by the piers 
form a semi-elliptical arcade. This is capped by a decorative stone lower cornice, which is supported at the top of 
each pier by a corbel shaft composed of floriated base, three bundled colonettes and floriated capitals (Photos 4, 5 
and 11). Within the two-story openings of each bay are large storefront window and door systems with cast-iron 
mullions. The center bay contains the main entrance to the building’s lobby, described originally as a “roomy foyer 
for the accommodation of the public” waiting to conduct business at W.J. Gilmore (Photo 10). Access is provided 
through four doors, flanked by ten-pane sidelights. Except for the easternmost door, which contains a recent ADA 
door leading to a sidewalk ramp (c. 2017), all contain Gothic arch motifs (Photos 10, 12 and 13). The westernmost 
bay contains a secondary public entrance (Photo 11). This was part of the original design so that visitors and staff 
could directly access passenger elevators on the west side of the lobby.”3 Here, access is via a single, recent ADA 
door, which is capped by decorative cast-iron cresting (Photo 14). Attached to each pier are large copper gas 
lanterns (1963) that have been painted black (Photos 8 and 11).  
 
Floors three through nine form the shaft of the building (Photos 4 and 5). Here, verticality is accentuated, as bundled 
colonettes (similar to those in the corbel shafts of the base) soar upward, uninterrupted for seven stories. In between, 
on each floor, are thirteen one-over-one, double-hung, metal sash windows. The original three-over-three, double-
hung, metal sash windows were present until at least 1980).4 Beneath these are stone spandrel panels with carved 
rectangular medallions. 
 
At the top, akin to a column’s decorative capital, is an elaborate cantilevered cornice (Photos 6 and 7). Projecting a 
full two feet from the wall plane behind, this superimposed diadem of Gothic tracery and crenellation forms a 
masonry hood over the bays below and creates a play of light and shadow.  
 
East Façade (Cherry Way) 
The northernmost bay of the east façade replicates the details of the front façade, except that the cornice does not 
project (i.e., the tracery is blind, being applied directly to the wall plane; Photo 6). The remaining bays are executed 
in a simpler manner using buff brick (technically, “gray waterproof face brick” from the Kittanning Brick & Fire 
Clay Company; Photos 15-18).5 The projecting stone basement course and lower cornice continue (unpainted) on 
this façade and appear to be granite (Photos 16 and 17). Verticality is still emphasized, but instead of bundled 
colonnettes of stone, seven-story stacks of alternating recessed and projecting bricks are present between each 
window (Photo 18). The sixteen windows on each floor are identical to those on the front façade. Sills and lintels are 
stone. The wall is capped by a cornice of projecting brickwork, which terminates in a crenelated parapet with stone 
caps. On four of the piers are gas lanterns identical to those on the front façade. 
 
South Facade 
The south façade is nearly identical in detail with the east façade (Photos 19-21), with four exceptions: 1) the five 
bays of the ground floor contain large overhead rolling doors providing an off-street enclosed loading dock (a 
necessity on narrow First Avenue), 2) on the floor above, windows are arranged in ribbons of three, 3) floors three 
through nine each contain twelve windows, and 4) the wall terminates in a stone cornice identical to that on the front 
façade, except that has blind tracery. 
 
 
 

                                                
2 “W.J. Gilmore Drug Co. Opens House of Service,” Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927. 
3 Ibid. 
4 Cathy Mourkas, Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation, “Equitable Gas Company/Gilmour [sic.] Drug Co.,” Pennsylvania 
Historic Resource Survey Form, 13 February 1980. 
5 Advertisement, Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927. 



West Façade and Parking Lot 
The west façade is far simpler in detail than even the east and south facades—the result of form following function 
(Photos 22 and 23). For its first quarter century, this façade contained no windows (then-owner Equitable Gas 
Company inserted them around 1951). With the exception of the northernmost bay, which largely repeats details of 
the front façade, the walls were solid brick, with simple projecting brick frames delineating each bay. The absence 
of daylighting was likely the result of Gilmore Drug locating its warehousing and/or manufacturing facilities on this 
side of the building. Windows matching those on the rest of the building are located in bays three through seven 
(counting from north to south). Sills are stone; lintels are steel (meant to not be visible); and there is no lower 
cornice. Above, the wall terminates in a parapet with simple brick ornamentation and stone caps. 
 
At the first-floor level, projecting from the four center bays, is a single-story brick porch with flat roof and stairs at 
the south end (constructed c. 2000; Photos 22-24). The rest of the lot on this side of the building is used for parking 
and dumpster storage. The arched entry into the parking area is not original and dates from circa 2000 (Photo 24). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



8. History  
Provide a history of the structure, district, site, or object.  
 
Prior to construction of the current building, the site played an important role in Pittsburgh’s post-Civil War medical 
history. The Homeopathic Medical and Surgical Hospital and Dispensary of Pittsburgh opened on August 1, 1866 
“in an old mansion on Second Avenue . . . purchased from James B. Murray” on what is today the northern half of 
the parking lot for 412 Boulevard of the Allies (Figures 5 and 6). The three-story, Italianate building offered thirty-
eight beds and was the fourth hospital established in the city.6 In less than two decades, the facility had become 
insufficient to meet demand. So, in 1883, the adjacent lot to the east was purchased (current site of the 412 
Boulevard of the Allies building) and a new two-hundred bed hospital designed by Pittsburgh architect John U. Barr 
opened to the public in 1884 (Figures 7 and 8). The new hospital was “a substantial brick structure, four stories high, 
consisting of two main buildings, one on First Avenue and one on Second Avenue, with a central connecting 
building.”7 In 1885, the Pittsburgh Training School for Nurses (the first nursing school in Western Pennsylvania) 
was added. In 1892, a four-story annex that extended east to Cherry Way was built to provide specialty ear and eye 
care. Four years later, the hospital became the first in the city to use x-rays as a diagnostic tool, with widely 
syndicated newspaper accounts heralding “the first practical use of the x-rays in surgery in America” (Figure 9).8 By 
1905, the hospital had again reached capacity and the search for a new site was started. On March 1, 1910, a state-
of-the art medical facility was dedicated on Centre Avenue in Shadyside, which was renamed Shadyside Hospital in 
1938. The old hospital on Second Avenue operated as an emergency department until 1915.9  
 
In January 1917, Samuel Dempster (one of the four founders of the W.J. Gilmore Drug Company) completed the 
purchase of the former hospital property on the south side of Second Avenue and had the complex demolished.10 
The year before, the City had announced intentions to widen the northern portion of Cherry Way (present William 
Penn Place), which would necessitate demolition of considerable portions of Gilmore Drug’s operations, which were 
then located at the corner of Seventh Avenue and Cherry Way. Plans to widen Second Avenue, by demolishing 
buildings on its north side, were also being studied at this time, and had been since at least 1895. For a brief period, 
Dempster offered the parcel for sale, but quickly took it off the market, recognizing its future value to Gilmore Drug 
(Figure 10). 
 
In February 1924, Dempster (then chair of the board of directors and treasurer at Gilmore) formally conveyed the 
property to the company, allowing plans for a new corporate headquarters building to advance.11 In June of that 
year, Gilmore Drug bought an adjacent parcel known as the Maffett Estate, so that the company then controlled the 
entire eastern two-thirds of the block.12 Under Samuel Dempster’s leadership, the company hired architect Joseph F. 
Kuntz to design its new flagship building. A building permit was obtained in July 1925 and construction was well 
underway by January 1926.13 
 
The new building opened in February 1927 with a major open house celebration and considerable coverage in the 
local press and pharmaceutical trade journals (Figures 11-14). The Pittsburgh Press devoted a special section to the 
grand opening and hailed the building as “an example of Pittsburgh’s progress,” and called it “the largest and finest 
wholesale drug business house in the United States.” While the superlative regarding the company’s size has not 
been encountered elsewhere, the company was clearly “one of the largest concerns” in the wholesale drug business 
in Pittsburgh and arguably “one of the most extensive wholesale drug houses in the state.”14 A month later, 

                                                
6 George Thornton Fleming, History of Pittsburgh and Environs, 2 (New York: The American Historical Society, Inc., 1922), 279-80.  
7 Sarah Hutchins Killikelly, The History of Pittsburgh: Its Rise and Progress (Pittsburgh: B.C. Gordon Montgomery Co., 1906), 397-98. 
8 Altoona Tribune, 6 April 1896—one of many papers to carry the story. 
9 Fleming, 279-80. 
10 Pittsburgh Press, 2 January 1917.  
11 “Drug Company Takes Title,” Pittsburgh Daily Post, 20 February 1924. 
12 Pittsburgh Press, 23 January 1924; Pittsburgh Daily Post, 20 February 1924; Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 10 June 1924; “Gilmore Drug 
Company Square Old Hospital Site,” Pittsburgh Daily Post, 10 June 1924. 
13 Pittsburgh Daily Post, 9 July 1925; Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 1 January 1926; “Permits Granted for Big Building Projects in 1925,” 
Pittsburgh Press, 4 January 1926. 
14 “An Example of Pittsburgh’s Progress,” Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927; “Gilmore Company Not Hurt by War,” Pittsburgh Daily 
Post, 2 August 1915; Pittsburgh Gazette Times, ed., The Story of Pittsburgh and Vicinity: Illustrated (Pittsburgh: The Pittsburgh Gazette 
Times, 1908), 329. 



demolition work began at the old Gilmore Drug location. Soon after, Andrew W. Mellon commissioned construction 
of the Koppers Building on the site (completed in March 1929; designed by Graham, Anderson, Probst & White).15 
 
For additional details about the features and significance of the W.J. Gilmore Drug Company Building, see 
Criterion 3 (Architecture), below. 
 
On December 1, 1944, the W.J. Gilmore Drug Company was purchased by McKesson & Robbins, Inc. While 
Gilmore was retained for a few years as a division, McKesson & Robbins soon sold the building and ended the 
Gilmore legacy.16  
 
On April 30, 1947, Portable Realty Corporation announced its purchase of the building so that it could become the 
national headquarters of its affiliate, Portable Products Corporation. Unfortunately, a particularly poor investment 
resulted in a four-million-dollar tax lien, which forced the business to close in 1949.17 
 
On April 27, 1948, in an effort to raise capital during their financial crisis, Portable Products sold the building to the 
420 Corporation, a stock company, that attempted unsuccessfully to rent the building and turn a profit for its 
investors. 
 
In May 1950, the Pittsburgh Post-Gazette reported that the 420 Corporation had sold the building to the Equitable 
Gas Company for one million dollars. There was no mention of how the outstanding lien was settled. The article 
also stated that Equitable would transfer the building “to a major insurance company, which in turn will lease it to 
Equitable.”18 An article from August 3 in the same paper provided contradictory (and clarifying) information, stating 
that “The Reliance Life Insurance Company of Pittsburgh has purchased the former Gilmore Drug Building. . . [and] 
the property has been leased to Equitable Gas, which will occupy it as general offices. The historic property card for 
420 Boulevard of the Allies, which is a summary of transactions for the parcel available through the Allegheny 
County Deed Office, shows the sale from 420 Corporation to Reliance Life Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, 
recorded August 1, 1950. But it never shows Equitable as an owner, indicating that the initial Post-Gazette account 
from May was in error.19 Nevertheless, this was the start of a half-century of Equitable Gas occupying the newly 
renamed Equitable Building as their Pittsburgh corporate headquarters (Figure 15).20 That year, the company had 
become independent for the first time since 1900. For fifty years it had been an operating subsidiary of the 
Philadelphia Company, which was formed during development of the Murrysville gas field east of Pittsburgh.21 
 
Prior to moving into the building in 1952, Equitable undertook considerable renovations, which included the 
insertion of windows into the west façade. In August 1953, title to the building underwent a technical change as 
Lincoln National Life Insurance Company absorbed Reliance Life. 
 
On March 12, 1956, in a marketing move to increase their visibility in Pittsburgh, Equitable dedicated a 21-foot tall 
lighted weather beacon atop the building.22  
 
In 1963, to commemorate the seventy-fifth anniversary of the company, Equitable further renovated the building as 
they took over street-level space previously rented by another tenant. Across the front of the building, Equitable 
installed “six large copper gas lights,” which were highlighted in a Pittsburgh Press article in June 1963 titled 
“Gaslight Era Making a Comeback.” The article noted the increasing popularity of gas lights and attributed this to 
“built-in nostalgia,” stating that “Homeowners and businessmen alike feel the lights bring back the charm and life of 
the Gay Nineties.”23 The fixtures appear to be the same ones that are present on the building today. 
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In 1972, after only sixteen years of forecasting the weather, Equitable’s Weather Flame atop the building ceased 
operation as a weather signal.24  
 
In February 1982, Equitable transferred ownership of the building to Kepco Inc., its gas exploration and production 
subsidiary, but continued its tenancy in the building. Two years later, Equitable Gas changed its name to Equitable 
Resources, Inc., to reflect its diversification into other energy areas.25 
 
In 1995, Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation recognized the building with a historic landmark plaque. This 
is an honorary designation that affords no protection nor requires any sort of historic preservation review. However, 
it does acknowledge that the building had been cared for over the past seven decades in a manner that retained 
architectural integrity. 
 
In 1999, Equitable Resources, Inc. sold the building to the Art Institute of Pittsburgh, which spent the next year 
working with the Design Alliance to complete significant renovations to convert the space into classrooms for a very 
diverse curriculum (Figure 16). Few changes were made to the exterior (with the possible exception of painting the 
front façade). On the interior, the Art Institute created seventy-classrooms with state-of-the art fiber optic wiring, a 
television studio, digital darkroom and a fully equipped industrial design technology shop. “To advertise the 
school’s presence, Art Institute President George Pry gave the sedate . . . façade a shock treatment, painting the first-
floor window and door trim brilliant red.”26 Keeping a promise to remain downtown, Equitable Resources moved its 
headquarters to One Oxford Centre, where they signed a ten-year lease on the tower’s thirty-third floor, which was 
renovated to accommodate fifty employees.27 
 
In 2001, the Art Institute received an Award of Merit from the Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation for the 
renovation of their building.28 
 
In May 2013, 412 Boulevard of the Allies was listed as a contributing resource in the expansion of the Firstside 
National Register Historic District (the original, smaller district to the west was listed in 1988). The nomination 
cited the building as “the most architecturally distinguished building from the 1920s in the boundary increase 
area.”29 Again, this is a largely honorary designation that would only require a preservation review process (known 
as Section 106 Review) if a project ever involved federal funding, licensing or permitting). 
 
In April 2014, the building was purchased by 420 Allies LLC and the Art Institute was given a three-year lease. In 
April 2017, after seventeen years in the building, the Art Institute moved to the Strip District. With the school gone, 
M&J Wilkow and CenterSquare Investment Management led renovation efforts “to convert classrooms and 
chalkboards. . . into a state-of-the art office complex. . .with top-flight amenities,” which included a rooftop deck 
served by a new elevator.30  
 
In September 2018, the building was jointly purchased by the Housing Authority of the City of Pittsburgh (39.08% 
share), the City of Pittsburgh (37.46 % share), and the Urban Redevelopment Authority of Pittsburgh (23.46% 
share).31 The City subsequently changed the address from 420 Boulevard of the Allies to 412 reflect the city’s 
telephone area code. 
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9. Significance  
 
Criterion 2. Its identification with a person or persons who significantly contributed to the cultural, historic, 
architectural, archaeological, or related aspects of the development of the City of Pittsburgh, State of 
Pennsylvania, Mid-Atlantic region, or the United States;  
 
Introduction 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is significant for its identification with three Pittsburgh companies that made the 
building their corporate headquarters: 
 

1927-1944: W.J. Gilmore Drug Company, a regional drug wholesaler that could trace its roots back to 
1825, whose primary market included western Pennsylvania, eastern Ohio and West Virginia.32 They 
initiated a long-standing tradition of welcoming the public into the first floor of the building to view 
merchandise. 
 
1947-1949: Portable Products Corporation, a national company with eight divisions and production 
facilities in Pennsylvania, New York and Illinois. They manufactured a diverse range of consumer products 
from lawn mowers to sporting equipment. 412 Boulevard of the Allies served not only as their corporate 
headquarters, but was also the assembly line for portable radios, produced at a rate of over three hundred 
per day. 
 
1950-1999: Equitable Gas Company (later, Equitable Resources, Inc.), one of three gas companies in the 
city during this time. During their tenure in the building (but particularly during their first two decades), 
they distinguished themselves by the breadth of their operations, which ranged from drilling and pipeline 
services to selling gas appliances (in part, through a large showroom in the building) to innovative public 
engagement. 

 
 
W. J. Gilmore Drug Company: 1927-1944 
On May 1, 1886, W.J. Gilmore & Company opened at 623 Liberty Avenue (present site of EQT Plaza) in a small, 
three-story building measuring twenty by eighty feet (Figures 17 and 18).33 The new firm was organized by William 
John Gilmore (1841-1912); Alexander Dempster (1836-1915), who was Gilmore’s brother-in-law (Dempster’s first 
wife was W.J. Gilmore’s sister, Flora Jane Gilmore Dempster); Samuel Dempster (1870-1932), who was Gilmore’s 
nephew (and the son of Alexander and Flora Dempster); and George F. Sichelstiel, Jr. (c. 1859-1924). 
 
Together, they had purchased Pittsburgh’s oldest wholesale drug house, the MacKeown Thompson Company 
(established in 1825) from the estate of D.C. Thompson. The new firm “conducted business as wholesale druggists 
and dealers in paints and dyes, varnishes, glass, glassware and white lead.”  In the early years, W.J. Gilmore handled 
financial matters for the business, while the Dempsters and Sichelstiel focused on sales.34 It appears to have been a 
particularly opportune moment, as the wholesale drug business reported “sales from $2,250,000 to $2,500,00” that 
year, marking “an increase in the ten years from 1876 of about 100 per cent.”35 
 
William John Gilmore was born in Wilkins Township in 1841. He was a son of James Gilmore (a farmer) and Ann 
Jane Waugh, both from Ireland, who had married in 1830. One of seven children, W.J. Gilmore received his 
education in Turtle Creek and later attended college in Pittsburgh. In 1878, he married Anna McKee, with whom he 
had two children.36 City directories indicate that he had been an employee at MacKeown Thompson since at least 
1873. 
 
By 1889, the three-year-old Gilmore company had outgrown its Liberty Avenue building and moved to a larger 
space at 430 Seventh Avenue, a block east of Grant street, where it initially occupied the street-level storefront, but 
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soon took over the entire building (Figures 19 and 20).37 By 1894, they expanded to the buildings at 426-428 
Seventh Avenue.38 In 1903 it was reported that the company was erecting “a modern, seven-story building. . .in the 
rear of their present quarters on Seventh Avenue [on Cherry Way, behind the Grant Street Public School] . . . The 
two buildings will be connected by arcades from each floor, and when the work is completed this enterprising firm 
will have a substantial, well-equipped plant, with the best of facilities for conducting their business and serving their 
patrons (Figure 21).”39  
 
A year later, in 1904, the company was incorporated as the W. J. Gilmore Drug Company. Founder W.J. Gilmore 
was at the helm until retiring in 1911. He died the next year on September 24, 1912 at the age of seventy. An 
obituary in the Pittsburgh Daily Post noted that he had died at home at 5748 Centre Avenue (in what is today 
Pittsburgh’s Friendship neighborhood) and that he left a widow and two children.40 
 
Following Gilmore’s death, the remaining founders carried on operations, with Samuel Dempster becoming  
“the most active man in the management of the business.”41 On August 2, 1915, a tragic automobile accident took 
the life of his father, president Alexander Dempster (Figure 23). A single-vehicle crash on the Lincoln Highway 
west of Ligonier killed 79-year old Dempster along with his second wife, Ella Davenport Dempster (60); 
Dempster’s son, James Gilmore Dempster (32); and the family’s chauffeur, Carl Williams (35). Among those who 
rushed to the scene were Samuel Dempster, then treasurer at Gilmore and his brother David Morrison Dempster, 
then secretary.42 Funeral services for the Dempsters were held at the senior Dempsters’ home at 5721 Stanton 
Avenue in Highland Park. 
 
Alexander Dempster was a significant figure in Pittsburgh’s history. In addition to helping form the W.J. Gilmore 
Drug Company, he was City of Pittsburgh Engineer as the immediate predecessor to Edward M. Bigelow. Prior to 
that time, he had been County Engineer. “A self-made man and a self-made civil engineer,” he was a charter 
member of the Engineer’s Society of Western Pennsylvania, and served as its president for two terms, in 1887 and 
1888.43 
 
Dempster was born June 16, 1836 at Elderslie, near Glasgow, Scotland. He was a son of Samuel and Anne Vaughan 
Dempster. He emigrated to America with his father, Samuel, a superintendent of mines, in 1850 and settled in Port 
Perry near Braddock on the Monongahela River. From 1862 to 1863, he served in Company G, 123rd Pennsylvania 
Volunteers. In 1868, he obtained a position in the Engineering Department of the Pennsylvania Railroad. In 1872, he 
began ten years of service as City Engineer, during which time much of his work focused on providing water to the 
city’s East End, which had grown by 21 square miles and 35,000 people only four years before in the largest 
annexation in Pittsburgh’s history. At the start of his term, he advocated for removal of the Hump (the remains of 
Grant’s Hill, centered around Grant Street, which was seen as an impediment to transportation and development), 
when it could have been removed at relatively small cost. However, he lacked clout and could not gain the support 
of city council, so the project languished for the next four decades. 
 
He was one of the founders of the Monongahela National Bank and was for a time the president of Monongahela 
Consolidated Coal Company. In his charitable work he served as a member of the board of managers for the 
Western Pennsylvania Institute for the Blind and the Allegheny Cemetery. 
 
From 1902 to 1907, Dempster was president of the board of trustees of the Western University of Pennsylvania 
during the pivotal period when the decision was made to relocate the school from the Northside to Oakland and 
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change its name to the University of Pittsburgh. These were also the key years of construction of the University’s 
new Allegheny Observatory in Riverview Park. 
 
Dempster’s first wife, Flora Jane Gilmore, died in 1893. In 1896, he married Ella Davenport who died with him in 
the crash. She was a school teacher from Cincinnati when the couple met. The Dempsters were members of the 
Sixth United Presbyterian Church, Highland Avenue and Station Street. At the time of his death, Alexander 
Dempster was survived by four sons and one daughter (four other children predeceased him) and his estate was 
valued at two million dollars. 
 
Under Alexander Dempster, the company had grown “from 5 to 250 department heads and employes” [sic.] from its 
inception to his death.44 However, it was his son, Samuel Dempster, whose vision and leadership propelled the 
company to unprecedented success following World War I and who was responsible for the conception and 
construction of the company’s new headquarters building on the Boulevard of the Allies.  
 
With his father gone, Samuel Dempster stepped in to fill the void at Gilmore Drug. He further expanded his 
influence after a number of corporate officers died in quick succession. Brother and company secretary, David 
Morrison Dempster, died from influenza on December 6, 1918.45 By that time, Samuel Dempster had ascended to 
the position of chair of the board of directors while continuing to control the powerful purse strings as treasurer.46 At 
his side was remaining founder, G.F. Sichelstiel, Jr., president; and brother Arthur A. Dempster (vice-president).47 
However, Arthur Dempster died on March 15, 1920 and Sichelstiel, died July 30, 1924.48 
 
Samuel Dempster had been born on January 10, 1870 in Braddock and received a business education at Duff’s 
College in downtown Pittsburgh, the first mercantile college started in America.49 Notable among his achievements 
was that “he joined the forces of his company [Gilmore Drug] when a lad of sixteen.”50 While it might seem 
unlikely that a minor was a co-founder of a major Pittsburgh company, no other Samuel Dempster has been 
identified as having any association with Gilmore Drug, and the only other Samuel Dempster known to have been 
associated with the Dempster or Gilmore families was the father of Alexander Dempster, but he died in 1875, eleven 
years before the founding of W.J. Gilmore & Company.51  
 
Samuel Dempster’s foresight in purchasing the former Homeopathic Hospital site on narrow Second Avenue in 
1916 (completed in January 1917) allowed Gilmore Drug to open its headquarters on one of the widest, most 
desirable thoroughfares a decade later after the street was widened and the Boulevard of the Allies was created. In 
selecting architect Joseph F. Kuntz, Dempster brought to Gilmore one of the most “well-known architects and 
engineers of Pittsburgh,” who had played “a very real part in the upbuilding of the city [into]. . .one of the largest 
and most modern in the country.”52 
 
In the span between W.J. Gilmore’s death in 1912 and the start of construction on the new building in 1925, Samuel 
Dempster played an integral role in doubling the company’s business.”53 He got off to a fast start. Commenting on 
sales for 1913, he stated, “This was the best year we ever had. Trade has advanced steadily throughout the year and 
the prospects are that the coming year will equal, if not excel, the record of 1913. I know of no particular factor that 
has aided in the development of our trade except strict attention to business.”54 
 
By the time of the 1927 open house, he was hailed for his “foresight and business ability that has made him known 
all over the United States as one of the leaders in the [wholesale drug] trade.”55 He was also noted for helping to 
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grow the company to heights likely unimaginable at its outset, “Each year since its inception in May, 1886, the 
Gilmore Company has shown such an increase in business that today the amount transacted annually is more than 40 
times as much as the first year’s sales.”56 
 
Samuel Dempster was, by many accounts, a creative and benevolent manager. Working with architect Kuntz, he 
crafted a program for the building that devoted much of the first floor to “accommodation of the public” and 
displaying the enormous range of merchandise offered by the firm. Under his leadership, a fleet of International 
Harvester trucks with specially designed steel drawers and cabinets was purchased for the sales department because 
an “ordinary salesman’s sample case could not hold near enough to make an adequate display of his wares (Figure 
24).”57 And in 1923, he supported the formation of the Gilmore Drug Employees’ Associates—a fraternal and social 
welfare society (Figure 25). Dempster not only spoke at their inaugural banquet, but approved company funds to 
host the two-hundred-person event, “a move indicative of [his] purpose to cooperate with the members of the 
association. . .and evidence of [his] approval of any movement in the interests of the employes [sic.].”58 For many 
years after, Dempster also headed the company’s annual picnic committee, which would develop “elaborate 
program[s] of sports and games” that attracted seven to eight hundred employees (Figure 26).59 There were also 
banquets, dance and card parties, and bowling leagues, all sanctioned by Samuel Dempster and the company (Figure 
27).60 
 
Samuel Dempster died on October 29, 1932, ending a forty-six-year career with the company he helped to found. He 
was survived by his widow, Jennie Louise Roberts Dempster, whom he had married on June 26, 1909, along with a 
sister, Agnes Flora Dempster Hill, wife of Bruce E. Hill.61 The couple’s home was at 425 South Braddock Avenue; 
they had no children.62  
 
Samuel Dempster’s death brought a close to the era when company founders played direct leadership roles. For the 
next decade, management responsibilities were largely in the hands of James Blythe McCormick, who had joined 
the company as a stock boy before working his way up to president in 1924 (following G.F. Sichelstiel’s death) and 
then also treasurer in 1933 (after Samuel Dempster’s death).63 He was assisted by Sichelstein’s sons, A.J. Sichelstiel 
(vice-president) and L.H. Sichelstiel (secretary).64 One initiative in the 1930s was advancement of the company’s  
Laboratory Apparatus Division, which manufactured equipment for the chemical and metallurgical industries 
(Figures 28 and 29).65   
 
In 1940, following the death of James B. McCormick, James L. Freeman was elected president. His appointment 
marked the first time that this key leadership position was not held by an individual who had “grown up” in the 
company. Freeman had previously served twenty-three years with the Southwestern Drug Company in Dallas, 
followed by a year in the advertising industry in New York, before moving to Pittsburgh.66 Under Freeman’s 
leadership, the showrooms on the first floor were remodeled in 1941 “and equipped with modern display fixtures 
(Figure 30).”67 Three years later, however, the company that could trace its roots back to 1825 would be gone. 
 
On December 1, 1944, W.J. Gilmore was purchased by McKesson & Robbins, Inc., becoming the sixty-seventh firm 
in their organization. The Gilmore name would carry on briefly as a unit of McKesson & Robbins, known as the 
W.J. Gilmore Division, with James Freeman as division president and supported by A.J. and L.H. Sichelstiel. 
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However, the new enterprise was scaled back considerably from its days of independent operation, as the new 
owners utilized only four floors and the basement, renting out the remainder.68  
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Portable Products Corporation: 1947-1949 
Though it was short-lived, Portable Products Corporation is significant in the history of 412 Boulevard of the Allies 
as the headquarters of an extremely creative and diverse company with a national audience that could arguably be 
considered the Apple, Inc. of its day. 
 
The Gilmore Division of McKesson & Robbins lasted just over two years. In early 1947, James Freeman resigned 
and on April 30, 1947, Portable Realty Corporation announced its purchase of the building so that it could become 
the national headquarters of its affiliate, Portable Products Corporation. The latter enterprise had been renting three 
floors from McKesson & Robbins since 1944. Little has been discovered about the founding of the company, except 
that it was founded in Pittsburgh, incorporated in Pennsylvania on October 31, 1944 and that its president was 
Fernal R. Marlier (variously listed as residing in Crafton and Carnegie).69 Marketing materials from 1947 indicate 
that the company at that time consisted of eight divisions and subsidiaries (Figures 31 and 32). “Closely integrated, 
these units contribute the experience of their own operations for the increased efficiency of the entire group. Each 
unit benefits from the research, productive capacity, purchasing power and distribution facilities of the group as a 
whole.”70 
 
On the fifth floor of the building, Portable Products ran a one-hundred-woman assembly line that produced ten 
thousand portable radios in plastic cases per month, “believed to be the first complete radios produced in volume in 
Pittsburgh—[the] birthplace of broadcasting (Figure 33A).”71 General manager, Haydon Hall, declared, “We are 
making radios here, and hope to expand our output of radios and other small electric appliances here because we 
have found that Pittsburgh is such a fine source of labor for light manufacturing.”72 In addition to the radios, the 
company also manufactured electric clothing irons in Pittsburgh, which were sold by Gimbel’s Department Stores 
(Figure 33B).73 
 
One of the company’s most innovative enterprises was a flying car. Initially created by Theodore Parsons Hall, 
before being sold to the Southern Aircraft Division of Portable Products in 1946. The Southernaire “Roadable” 
aerocar was a working, single-engine aircraft that featured a removable propeller and demountable wings, allowing 
the resulting three-wheeled vehicle to be driven on roads.74 It was featured in major magazine and journals, 
including Aviation News and Popular Science (Figures 34 and 35). 
 
Unfortunately, Portable Products bought more than it bargained for when it acquired Southern Aircraft Company. 
“Unwittingly, it also got the liabilities as well as the assets. These turned out. . .to include a $5 million renegotiation 
bill from the Government on war contracts. Unable to meet it, Portable turned over its assets of about a million 
dollars, had the [Boulevard of the Allies] building sold, turned in the money, and folded.” The $4 million lien [was] 
the largest claim ever filed in Allegheny County. The purchaser was the 420 Corporation, a stock company, that 
attempted to rent the building. However, income tax attorneys determined that the lien followed the building, no 
matter who buys it.75 
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Equitable Gas: 1950-1999 
The third corporate headquarters to occupy 412 Boulevard of the Allies was the Equitable Gas Company, which 
leased the building from 1950 to 1999. During this time, the building was significant as the offices of one of three 
natural gas providers in Pittsburgh and for its identification with the terms of the company’s first two presidents, 
during which time considerable upgrades were made to the building’s infrastructure. 
 
In May 1950, Equitable Gas Company began its long-term lease of 420 Boulevard of the Allies as its new home 
after fifty years of being a subsidiary of the Philadelphia Company. Leading the company during this transition was 
president Albert W. Conover, who would serve until 1957 (Figure 36). A native of Camden, New Jersey, he had 
previously served as the president and general manager of North Shore Gas Company in Chicago.76 Under his 
inaugural leadership, two million shares of public stock in the new company were sold, the building was completely 
renovated, including the insertion of windows on the west façade, and it was renamed the Equitable Building.77 
During the earliest years, the company occupied five floors, with the Treasury Department (where customers could 
pay their bills) on the second floor, Customer Service on the third, Gas Measurement and Distribution on the fourth, 
and General Sales on the sixth.78 Shortly after the relocation was complete, Equitable started to add an odorant to its 
product to better allow the public to detect leaks.”79  
 
The company also undertook a major branding and marketing effort under Conover. On March 12, 1956, Equitable 
completed the installation of its 21-foot tall, Handy Weather Flame atop the 20-foot tall elevator penthouse on the 
roof (Figures 37, 39 and 40). It was constructed of stainless steel and Plexiglas and was illuminated by neon 
tubing—not gas, as might be expected.80 Taking its name from Handy-Flame, the mascot the company had been 
employing in advertising and marketing since 1950, the flame-like glass bulb indicated changing weather, with red 
for fair, blue (symbolizing a blue natural gas flame) for rain and flashing blue for snow. The beacon, erected by 
structural steel engineer James F. Kelleher, could be seen for miles from the South Side and Mount Washington, and 
was similar to the Weathergide lighted beacon on the Gulf Building, which began operation the same day.81 In 
promotional materials, Equitable touted the project as “another community service by the friendly people with the 
low gas rates.”82 In June 1956, Equitable and Gulf announced that the two weather forecasting icons would use the 
same signals to avoid confusion (Figure 38).83  
 
Weather signals nearly identical to the 21-foot tall Weather Flame were also installed atop gas company buildings in 
El Paso and Milwaukee in 1955 and 1956, respectively. They were created by Federal Electric Company, which 
became Federal Sign and Signal Corporation in 1956. Further research will be needed to determine if Equitable’s 
signal was from the same manufacturer. The Weather Flame provided Pittsburghers with a forecast until December 
31, 1972. With the same service being provided atop the Gulf Building “an Equitable spokesman said one weather 
signal in Pittsburgh is enough” and that the flame would change to steady blue on January 1 “to symbolize the color 
of burning natural gas.”84 Milwaukee turned their beacon completely off in 1973 citing the national energy shortage, 
but put it back into operation in 1985. It has not been determined when the flame atop the Equitable Building was 
dismantled. 
 
Conover stepped down as president in 1956, then served as chair of the board for the next two years. After his time 
at Equitable, he remained active in business and civic affairs until his death on November 30, 1978 at the age of 79. 
Among his many achievements was serving as president of the Greater Pittsburgh Chamber of Commerce in 1955 
and 1956 and being a member of the Allegheny Conference on Community Development.85 
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Donald B. Beecher became Equitable’s second president in 1957 (Figure 41). Beecher was born in Delaware, Ohio, 
graduated from Wesleyan University in 1923, and graduated from Carnegie Institute of Technology in 1925 as an 
electrical engineer.86 He started his career in 1926 as a fieldman in the Philadelphia Company’s Equitable 
subsidiary. Following a series of promotions and transfers within the parent company, he returned to the newly-
independent Equitable Gas Company in 1952 as vice-president and general manager before becoming president five 
years later. He would serve in that capacity for a decade, retiring in 1967. He died December 29, 1974 at his winter 
home in Florida. He was survived by his wife Emily.87 
 
In 1963, Beecher oversaw renovations to mark the company’s diamond anniversary (the company had been 
chartered seventy-five years before, in 1888). This was at a time when the gas industry nationwide had tripled in size 
in the past decade, becoming the fifth largest U.S. industry based on plant investment.88 It was also a time when 
many corporate managers were uncertain that Pittsburgh’s first Renaissance would be successful and worthy of 
further investment. A newspaper story under the headline, “Utility Firm’s Move a Vote of Faith in City,” affirmed 
Equitable’s commitment to staying downtown: “Equitable Gas Company’s faith in the future of Downtown 
Pittsburgh is being graphically illustrated this week as the firm unveils its newly remodeled headquarters building at 
420 Blvd. of the Allies.”89  
 
As part of the remodeling, Equitable expanded into all but one floor of the building. Renovations carried on the 
tradition of accommodating the public and marketing merchandise, which had been established by Gilmore Drug. 
The greatest transformations occurred on the first floor and mezzanine, which had previously been occupied by a 
tenant. There, the company created the largest gas appliance sales showroom in Western Pennsylvania, featuring 
5,000 square feet of display space (Figure 43). Equitable was unique among Pittsburgh’s three gas companies in that 
it was the only one to sell appliances as well as promote their use. To its rear, was a new service counter for easy 
payments and service requests, eliminating the need for customers to go to the second and third floors.  
 
The basement was transformed into a 150-person auditorium, available to outside organizations when not scheduled 
for company business. On the same level, a Home Service Suite was created with six complete gas kitchens: a 
commercial kitchen was set up as a model for restaurants and schools; on-stage in the auditorium, a large kitchen 
was created for demonstrations and training; and the four remaining kitchens served as participation kitchens for 
customers taking cooking classes (these also opened onto the auditorium for additional demonstrations and support; 
Figure 42). The mezzanine became the new home for the general sales group. With the enlargement of its 
headquarters, Equitable closed its former appliance sales showroom, Home Service headquarters and business 
offices at 610 Wood Street, since those functions were now incorporated into the headquarters building.90 
 
As part of grand opening festivities, visitors could tour the Space Kitchen, a mock-up of “the type of kitchen 
facilities planned for a three-man spacecraft on a 14-day flight,” and the Miracle Kitchen, which featured gas 
kitchen and laundry facilities of the future, both designed by Whirpool. This included “a dishwasher that makes 
toast, keeps foods hot and beverages cold [and] moves on its own power from its base at the end of the center island 
to the table, sink, and even to the patio.”91 In August of the diamond-anniversary year, noted Pittsburgh 
photographer Teenie Harris photographed the front facade of the building (Figure 44). 
 
From the end of Beecher’s term as president until the sale of the building in 1999, Equitable continued innovative 
ways to market the company and attract the public to its headquarters building. From at least the 1960s through the 
1980s, Equitable was known for its seasonal window displays, which at times rivaled the famed windows of nearby 
Kaufmann’s Department Store. Many of these were created by Pittsburgher Ted Rosignoli.92 For one promotion, 
they even installed a six-hole miniature golf course in the lobby.93 After the steel industry collapsed, Equitable’s 
tradition of offering its large basement auditorium to the public was increasingly utilized by countless nonprofit 
organizations whose programs and events sought to aid the Pittsburgh community.  
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Criterion 3. Its exemplification of an architectural type, style or design distinguished by innovation, rarity, 
uniqueness, or overall quality of design, detail, materials, or craftsmanship;  
 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is a skillfully designed example of the Late Gothic Revival style successfully adapted to 
an early twentieth-century, Commercial style office tower—a stylistic combination often referred to as Commercial 
Gothic. The building is also significant for many elements of its architectural program developed by Joseph F. Kuntz 
in concert with Samuel Dempster and the Gilmore Drug management team. 
 
While conceding that applying stylistic labels to buildings can be a forced exercise in linguistic shorthand leading to 
many inaccuracies and omissions (see Richard W. Longstreth’s appropriately titled essay, “The Problem with 
‘Style’”), a brief examination of the two stylistic traditions behind 412 Boulevard of the Allies can provide some 
useful context.94  
 
Commercial Style 
The Commercial style reflects advances in construction technology that permitted the creation of very tall buildings, 
the first skyscrapers in the urban landscape. The Pennsylvania Architectural Field Guide developed by the 
Pennsylvania Historical & Museum Commission indicates that the style was utilized in Pennsylvania largely during 
the time period from the 1890s into the 1920s: 
 

This style is sometimes referred to as the Chicago style, after the city where steel-framed, relatively 
unadorned, utilitarian, tall commercial buildings first appeared in great numbers in the 1890s. Advances in 
commercial architectural design in Philadelphia and New York City laid the groundwork for the full 
development of the Commercial style in Chicago. William Le Baron Jenney was the first architect to employ 
the steel frame construction in his design for the Home Insurance building completed in Chicago in 1885. 
Other prominent architects who worked in the development of this new building technology included the 
firms of Adler and Sullivan (Sullivan's embellishment of this style became its own distinctive architectural 
style, the Sullivanesque), Burnham and Root, and Holabird and Roche. While the style thrived in Chicago at 
the turn of the 20th century, examples of the Commercial style can be found in many other cities. 
 
Prior to the development of steel frame technology, building height had been limited by the need for massive 
masonry support walls. The strength of the steel skeleton allowed for much taller buildings without the bulk 
of heavy masonry walls. The invention of the elevator also facilitated the design of tall buildings by making 
upper floors more easily accessible. Commercial style buildings reflecting this first wave of skyscraper 
construction are usually between six and twenty floors in height. 
 
The distinguishing characteristics of this style are a steel skeleton construction, expressed externally as a grid 
of intersecting piers and cross spandrels, a flat roof with modest cornice, and large bands of windows. . . The 
ground floor of Commercial style buildings usually contained large display windows for storefronts. Some 
examples of this style employ decorative elements of other popular styles of the era, such as Romanesque or 
Gothic Revival ornament.95 
 

Character-defining features of the Commercial style that are present on 412 Boulevard of the Allies include its steel-
frame construction, which divides each floor into a grid that is five bays wide by eight bays deep; rectangular, box-
like massing; flat roof; masonry wall surfaces; and ground-floor retail/display space. 
 
Late Gothic Revival Style 
The Late Gothic Revival style is a late-nineteenth and early-twentieth century adaptation of the early-nineteenth 
century Gothic Revival style. “The Gothic Revival style, which flourished from the period of 1830 through 1890 in 
the United States, was often chosen for churches and institutional buildings due to its impressive, medievally-
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inspired form.”96 In the early twentieth century the Gothic Revival style reappeared as an appropriate choice for 
university and secondary school buildings (i.e., the Collegiate Gothic style) and for commercial buildings, especially 
when the typically spare ornament of the Commercial style was deemed to be insufficient. The style lent an air of 
respected antiquity, though buildings were often executed as rather pared down versions of the more ornate forms of 
the style with only a few decorative details like arched and recessed entryways or a few decorative panels. Masonry 
cladding lent a sense of permanence and substance, a fitting image for the educational and commercial enterprises.97 
 
Character-defining features of the Late Gothic Revival style that are present on 412 Boulevard of the Allies include 
its semi-elliptical first-floor arcade; piers that emphasize verticality through the application of seven-story bundled 
colonnettes of stone and alternating recessed and projecting bricks; the stone spandrel panels with carved rectangular 
medallions; the elaborate cantilevered cornice with its Gothic tracery and crenellation; and carved stone and cast-
iron ornamentation. 
 
Commercial Gothic 
Joanna Merwood-Salisbury, in her chapter of Skyscraper Gothic titled “The Gothic Revival and the Chicago School: 
From Naturalistic Ornament to Constructive Expression,” captures the appeal of melding the Commercial and Late 
Gothic Revival styles: “The adaptation of the Gothic to commercial buildings was a fitting form of aesthetic 
evolution. In particular it lent the social cohesiveness of preindustrial northern European village life to a rapidly 
industrializing city on the western American frontier. The use of the Gothic Revival for office buildings that housed 
banks and insurance companies provided new and often financially precarious institutions with the moral authority 
previously held by sacred architecture. . . Implying intellectual and spiritual correctness, if not strict stylistic 
authenticity, the commercial Gothic Revival style ensured prestige for the architect and, with luck, high returns for 
his patron and longevity for the building itself.98 Completion of the Woolworth Building in New York in 1913 
(designed by Cass Gilbert) with its 15th-and 16th-century-inspired ornament, “made Gothic newly fashionable for 
commercial work.”99  
 
Although the style was relatively uncommon, there are a number of examples of the Commercial Gothic style in 
Pittsburgh. The most elaborate, high-style example is the Union Arcade (later the Union Trust Building) on Grant 
Street in downtown Pittsburgh (Figure 45). Designed by Pittsburgh architect Frederick J. Osterling with assistance 
from Pierre A. Leisch, it opened in 1917. “The style is Flemish Gothic of the period around 1500. . . its ornament 
executed primarily in stone-colored and white terra cotta. . . Inside was space for 240 shops, facing two four-story 
open arcade spaces, and about 700 offices, [though]. . . the tall arcade spaces were floored in in 1923.”100 
 
Leisch designed a smaller Flemish Gothic Revival building in 1929 for the Croatian Fraternal Union (Figure 46). 
Located on Forbes Avenue in Oakland, the “building is a three-story, flat-roofed structure of brick, steel, and 
concrete construction. . . divided into five bays by vertically ribbed responds which run the full height of the 
building. The first floor has an arcade of five pointed arches, with the central arch housing the entry doors. . . The 
parapet above the third-floor windows is ornamented with Gothic tracery [and] . . . was originally crowned with a 
highly ornate overhanging cornice.”101 The building is currently threatened with demolition by the University of 
Pittsburgh. 
 
Another example, very similar in form and massing to 412 Boulevard of the Allies, was the McCann Building 
(Figure 47).  Designed by Bernard H. Prack and completed in 1930, it was a ten-story, five-by-ten bay, full-service 
grocery with integral 600-car parking garage located just off Market Square on today’s Stanwix Street (then Ferry 
Street). Simpler in detail, and clad in brick, it featured a first-story arcade capped by an ornate cornice with an even 
more ornate cornice at the roofline. In the mid-1960s, two floors were added and the façade was covered in glass 
panels, completely masking its earlier Commercial Gothic provenance (Figure 48). 
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Closer to our subject building—in fact, just across the street—is the former Salvation Army Building, now the 
Distrikt Hotel (1924, with 1930 addition, designed by architect Thomas Pringle; Figure 48). This ten-story, steel-
framed building features a three-story granite base with large Gothic-arched door openings with stone tracery. 
Above, the building is much simpler, as floors four through ten are clad in red brick with minimal ornamentation. 
 
Smaller examples of the Commercial Gothic style in Pittsburgh include the studio that Frederick Osterling designed 
for himself in 1917 on Isabella Street on Pittsburgh’s Northside (Figure 49). A remodeling of an older Victorian 
building, the studio features “a glass façade of Gothic trefoils in the manner of Osterling’s Union Trust Building.”102 
In East Liberty, 6012-14 and 6018 Penn Avenue are the salvaged, terra cotta facades of two early-twentieth 
examples of the style (Figure 50). The buildings faced demolition for construction of a six-story apartment building. 
While “façade-only preservation is not a recognized or appropriate historic preservation tool,” this intervention at 
least retained some vestiges of this rather rare architectural style.103 
 
 
The Gilmore Drug Architectural Program 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is also significant architecturally for the building program (i.e., features and functions) 
devised by Gilmore Drug in conjunction with architect Joseph F. Kuntz. 
 
Note: The following information was adapted from the special feature in the February 19, 1927 edition of the 
Pittsburgh Press titled “W.J. Gilmore Drug Co. Opens House of Service,” which celebrated the completion of the 
building. 
 
From a technical standpoint, the nine-story building was reportedly engineered so that up to twelve stories could be 
added in the future. Hand-in-hand with this, major machinery, power systems and conveyors were designed to be 
easily expanded. The building was constructed to be both fire proof and flood proof. The entire interior was faced 
with brick and all window sashes and frames were constructed of metal. 
 
In planning the building, Joseph Kuntz visited similar wholesale drug facilities in New York, Boston, Chicago and 
Minneapolis before finalizing plans for Gilmore. As mentioned, display case were provided throughout the first 
floor to highlight the company’s various product lines. Horizontal and vertical conveying equipment carried 
packages between departments and between floors. There were no boilers in the building, as steam was provided 
centrally by the Allegheny County Steam Heating Company. The loading dock, as mentioned, was concealed within 
the building so that traffic on narrow First Avenue would not be impaired. 
 
Inside, a special burglar-proof vault was provided on the fifth floor for the safe storage of “medicinal whisky and 
wines, narcotics and bacteriological supplies.” Automatic ice machines kept drugs and supplies of chocolate at 
specific temperatures. On the sixth floor, a walk-in humidor with a capacity for three million cigars was airtight and 
moisture controlled. 
 
Speed and accuracy in the filling of orders was assured by copying each original and dispatching a photostatic 
duplicate to the necessary departments. A special dark room in the business department on the mezzanine housed the 
expensive equipment. 
 
One of the company’s proudest achievements was their aim to make the “building a purely Pittsburgh institution” 
where “Pittsburgh products predominate.” Under the headline “Pittsburgh Firms Built Fine Gilmore Drug Home” in 
the special edition of the Press, is an accounting of all of the local talent. Starting from the steel (fabricated by the 
McClintic-Marshall Company) to the bricks (Kittanning Brick Company) to the marble used for the counters in the 
lobby (American Marble Company), everything possible was either manufactured or supplied regionally (Figure 
51). Coordinating this all was the W.T. Grange Construction Company, located in the Keenan Building on Liberty 
Avenue. 
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Criterion 4. Its identification as the work of an architect, designer, engineer, or builder whose individual work is 
significant in the history or development of the City of Pittsburgh, the State of Pennsylvania, the Mid-Atlantic 
region, or the United States;  
 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is significant as a skillfully-designed example of the work of accomplished late-
nineteenth and early-twentieth century Pittsburgh architect Joseph Franklin Kuntz (Figure 52).104 
 
Joseph Franklin Kuntz was born around 1866 in Natrona, on the Allegheny River, about 25 miles northeast of 
Pittsburgh. He was the son of Peter and Phoebe (Held) Kuntz, both natives of Pennsylvania. Peter Kuntz was 
engaged in the lumber business until his death in 1910. For eight years, Joseph Kuntz worked with his father before 
moving to Pittsburgh to enter the engineering firm of William Glyde Wilkins (1854-1921).105 The connection proved 
long-lived, for Joseph Kuntz continued to work with the successor firms of Wilkins & Davison and the W. G. 
Wilkins Company. 
 
In the late-nineteenth century, the W.G. Wilkins Company built coal and coke plants throughout Western 
Pennsylvania and West Virginia, erecting whole towns adjacent to these plants, with houses, stores, schools, 
churches, and theaters. This necessitated the formation of an architectural department, which was put under the 
supervision of Joseph Kuntz. The responsibility of the post and his success in handling it led to a partnership in the 
W. G. Wilkins Company. After the senior member retired, Kuntz became the owner and principal of the enterprise 
(Figure 53).  
 
The following Pittsburgh buildings are among the major designs by Joseph Kuntz: 
 
• The W.W. Lawrence & Company Building, a.k.a. the Lawrence Paint Building (1902), West Carson Street 

(demolished in 2001; Figure 54).106 
 

• The Commercial Building (1907), 420 First Avenue, directly behind 412 Boulevard of the Allies, later the 
Graphic Arts Building; the first eight-story reinforced concrete construction in Pittsburgh; another contributing 
building in the expanded Firstside National Register District (Figures 2, 3 and 55). 

 
• The Maul Building (1910), 1704 East Carson Street; four stories, elaborate terra cotta ornamentation featuring 

Native American motifs (Figures 56 and 57). 
 
• The General A. J. Logan Armory (1911; Figure 58), at Bayard and Thackeray Streets (demolished; current site 

of Benedum Hall, 1971, designed by Deeter, Ritchey & Sippel). 
 
• Frick & Lindsay Building (1913; Figure 59), 117 Sandusky Street; now the Andy Warhol Museum.107 

 
• The Captain Alfred E. Hunt Armory (1921), on Emerson Street (Figure 60). 

 
• The Philadelphia Building (1925 expansion by Kuntz; Figure 61), 620 William Penn Place; eight stories, built 

for the Philadelphia Company, now the Hotel Monaco. Kuntz expanded upon an earlier design by MacClure & 
Spahr.  
 

Additional buildings designed by Kuntz include: 
 

• The Atlantic Building (1922), Broad and Spruce streets, Philadelphia; a twenty-two-story office building 
erected for the Atlantic Refining Company; currently apartments. 

                                                
104 Unless indicated otherwise, much of the biographical information on Kuntz was adapted from the entry “Joseph Franklin Kuntz,” in 
Frank C. Harper, Pittsburgh of Today: Its Resources and People (New York: The American Historical Society, Inc., [1931]): 34-35. 
105 “Wilkins Funeral to Be Held Tomorrow,” Pittsburgh Press, 13 April 1921. 
106 Patricia Lowry, “Nomination as Landmark May Save Paint Building, Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 28 July 1999; “Lawrence Paint 
Building: Lost After Years of Effort,” PHLF News, September 2001, 6. 
107 Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation, Historic Landmark Plaques: 1968-2009 (Pittsburgh: Pittsburgh History & Landmarks 
Foundation, 2009). 



 
• A bank and office building at Hollidaysburg, Pennsylvania, for the Hollidaysburg Trust Company. 

 
• For the McClintic-Marshall Company, office buildings at Pottstown, Pennsylvania, Chicago, Illinois, and 

Buffalo, New York. 
 

• Ten administration buildings for the Pittsburgh Railways Company. 
 

• Railway stations at Butler for the Harmony and Butler Railroad. 
 

• An eleven-story office building at Steubenville, Ohio, for the Union Savings Bank & Trust Company. 
 
• Service buildings at Aliquippa and Glassport, Pennsylvania, for the People’s Natural Gas Company. 

 
• For the United States Government, typical power plant buildings and dwellings for locks and dams for the Ohio 

and Kanawha rivers. 
 
• For the Armory Board of the State of Pennsylvania, Kuntz designed twenty-five armories (including the two 

mentioned above). 
 

• Approximately two hundred gasoline service stations distributed throughout Pennsylvania and the New England 
States, erected for the Atlantic Refining Company of Pennsylvania, the majority of a type in which Joseph 
Kuntz was a pioneer, utilizing cream colored terra cotta and employing a distinctive design (Figure 62).  

 
• He designed and constructed factory buildings for many companies employed in diverse industrial fields, 

including: The Columbia Plate Glass Company at Blairsville, Pennsylvania; the Crescent Machine Shops, 
Leetonia, Ohio; the Duff Manufacturing Company; the Gem Manufacturing Company; the Standard 
Underground Cable Company; Pittsburgh Gage & Supply Company; A. J. Logan Company; Pittsburgh Valve 
Foundry and Construction Company, and many others. 

 
Kuntz was a member of the Engineering Society of Western Pennsylvania and of several local organizations, 
including the Pittsburgh Field Club and the Chamber of Commerce. He served during one enlistment period in the 
Pennsylvania Naval Reserve Corps.  In 1896, he married Anna Oakford Day, daughter of T. Walter Day, a 
prominent Pittsburgh attorney. The couple had two sons: Joseph Franklin, Kuntz, Jr. and Blair Day Kuntz. Anna 
Kuntz died March 4, 1920; Joseph Kuntz died in 1938.  
 
 
Criterion 10. Its unique location and distinctive physical appearance or presence representing an established and 
familiar visual feature of a neighborhood, community, or the City of Pittsburgh.  
 
412 Boulevard of the Allies is significant as a visual landmark in downtown Pittsburgh. For almost a century, it has 
remained nearly unchanged, anchoring the south side of the Boulevard of the Allies between Smithfield and Grant 
Streets (Figures 63 and 64). It is important aesthetically as a representative of the relatively uncommon Commercial 
Gothic architectural style. The building’s details, especially its elaborate projecting cornice, are eye-catching from 
blocks away; and at the street level, its two-story arcade of glass has attracted viewers and visitors for generations.  
  



10. Integrity

412 Boulevard of the Allies meets the criteria for integrity as it applies to location, design, materials, and 
workmanship. 

Location: The building retains integrity in regard to location. It remains in its original location on the Boulevard of 
the Allies. 

Design: The building retains integrity in regard to design. It retains its form, massing, method of construction, and 
the original purpose as an office building. Specific character-defining features remain that allow its significance as 
an example of the Commercial Gothic style to be conveyed. These include its steel frame construction, rectangular 
massing, flat roof, masonry wall surfaces, ground-floor retail/display space, semi-elliptical first-floor arcade, piers of 
brick and bundled stone colonettes that emphasize verticality, stone spandrel panels with carved rectangular 
medallions, the elaborate cantilevered cornice with its Gothic tracery and crenellation, and carved stone and cast-
iron ornamentation. 

The addition of window openings on the west façade around 1951 have become an integral part of the building and 
with more than fifty years having elapsed, are historic in their own right. 

Materials: The building retains integrity in regard to materials. Still present are the stone and brick walls, carved 
stone ornamentation, and cast-iron storefront system. The painting of the front façade, while not a recommended 
preservation practice for a number of reasons, including the likelihood of trapping moisture, is ultimately reversible 
and does not detract from the overall ability to convey the form and style of the building. 

Workmanship: The building retains integrity in regard to workmanship. Exterior details—especially the ornately 
carved stone ornamentation—reflect a high level of skill and sophistication. 

11. Consent of Property Owners

12. Photo Log

All photographs taken by Time & Place LLC on 8 August 2020, unless noted otherwise. 

Photo 1. Streetscape; Boulevard of the Allies, looking west from Grant Street, showing 412 Boulevard of the Allies 
in the middle of the block on the left. 

Photo 2. Streetscape; Boulevard of the Allies, looking east from Smithfield Street, showing 412 Boulevard of the 
Allies in the middle of the block on the right. 

Photo 3. Front and west facades, looking southeast. 

Photo 4. Front and east facades, looking southwest. 

Photo 5. Front facade, center three bays, looking south. 

Photo 6. Detail, cornice, northeast corner of building, looking southwest. 

Photo 7. Detail, cornice, northwest corner of building, looking southeast. 

Photo 8. Front facade, sidewalk level, looking west. 

Photo 9. Front facade, looking southwest, showing base of pilaster and painted surfaces. 



Photo 10. Front facade, looking southwest, showing main entrance. 

Photo 11. Front facade, looking southwest, showing west entrance. 

Photo 12. Front facade, looking south, showing detail at front entrance. 

Photo 13. Front facade, looking southwest, showing detail on front door. 

Photo 14. Front facade, looking southwest, showing detail over west entrance. 

Photo 15. Front and east facades, looking south down Cherry Way. 

Photo 16. East facade, looking west, showing extent of painted stone. 

Photo 17. East facade, looking west, showing extent of painted stone. 

Photo 18. East facade, looking west, showing brick piers between windows. 

Photo 19. Rear facade, looking west. 

Photo 20. Rear and east facades, looking northwest, showing similar brickwork. 

Photo 21. Rear facade, looking east. 

Photo 22. West facade, looking northeast. 

Photo 23. West facade, looking southeast. 

Photo 24. West parking lot, looking south. 
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Photo 1. Streetscape; Boulevard of the Allies, looking west from Grant Street, showing 412 
Boulevard of the Allies in the middle of the block on the left.

Photo 2. Streetscape; Boulevard of the Allies, looking east from Smithfield Street, showing 412 
Boulevard of the Allies in the middle of the block on the right.

Photographs—412 Boulevard of the Allies, Pittsburgh, PA 15219 
All photographs taken by Time & Place LLC on 8 August 2020, unless noted otherwise.
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Photo 3. Front and west facades, looking southeast.
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Photo 4. Front and east facades, looking southwest.
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Photo 5. Front facade, center three bays, looking south.
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Photo 6. Detail, cornice, northeast corner of building, looking southwest.

Photo 7. Detail, cornice, northwest corner of building, looking southeast.
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Photo 8. Front facade, sidewalk level, looking 
west.

Photo 9. Front facade, looking southwest, 
showing base of pilaster and painted surfaces.

Photo 10. Front facade, looking southwest, 
showing main entrance.

Photo 11. Front facade, looking southwest, 
showing west entrance.
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Photo 12. Front facade, looking south, showing detail at front entrance.
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Photo 13. Front facade, looking southwest, showing detail on front door.

Photo 14. Front facade, looking southwest, showing detail over west entrance.
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Photo 15. Front and east facades, looking 
south down Cherry Way.

Photo 16. East facade, looking west, showing 
extent of painted stone.

Photo 17. East facade, looking west, showing 
extent of painted stone.

Photo 18. East facade, looking west, showing 
brick piers between windows.
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Photo 19. Rear facade, looking west. Photo 20. Rear and east facades, looking 
northwest, showing similar brickwork.

Photo 21. Rear facade, looking east.
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Photo 22. West facade, looking northeast. Photo 23. West facade, looking southeast.

Photo 24. West parking lot, looking south.
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Figure 1. Location map, with red star showing the location of 412 Boulevard of the Allies on the southern edge of 
Pittsburgh’s Central Business District (Google Maps).
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Figures—412 Boulevard of the Allies, Pittsburgh, PA 15219

412 Boulevard of the Allies—Historic Nomination Form Time & Place LLC



GRA
N

T S
TREE

T

Figure 2. Vicinity plan. Birdseye view, looking north, showing 412 Boulevard of the Allies at center (Bing Maps).
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Figure 3. Vicinity plan. Birdseye view, looking south, showing roof of 412 Boulevard of the Allies (Bing Maps).
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Figure 4. Site plan and photo key (adapted from Allegheny County GIS Viewer).
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A note on compass directions: Since the street grid in the southern part of Pittsburgh’s Golden Triangle is aligned with the 
Monongahela River and not the points on the compass, this document establishes a “Plan North” to simplify descriptions. This 
designation allows the top of the page/screen to be considered “north,” with the Boulevard of the Allies running east-west. This 
site plan reflects this “plan north” orientation and also shows “true north” in the compass rose at the lower right.
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Figure 5. The Homeopathic Medical and Surgical 
Hospital and Dispensary of Pittsburgh that opened on 
August 1, 1866 on the site of 412 Boulevard of the 
Allies (The Medical Counselor, v. 8, 1884, 712)

Figure 6. Location of the first Homeopathic Medical and Surgical 
Hospital on Second Avenue, in red (1872 G.M. Hopkins Company 
map).

Figure 7. The second Homeopathic Medical and Surgical Hospital on Second Avenue, designed 
by John U. Barr (The Medical Counselor, v. 8, 1884, 714)
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Figure 8. The second Homeopathic Medical and Surgical Hospital on Second Avenue, in red (1900 G.M. Hopkins Company map).

Figure 9. X-ray room, Roentgen Ray Department, Homeopathic 
Medical and Surgical Hospital on Second Avenue, 1900 
(Shadyside Hospital Collection, Historic Pittsburgh).
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Figure 11. 1927 Sanborn Fire Insurance Company map, showing the newly-constructed Gilmore Drug Company Building and its 
adjacent parking area.

Figure 10. Real estate advertisement, showing Samuel Dempster’s short-lived decision to offer the former Homeopathic Hospital 
site for sale (Pittsburgh Press, 3 March 1917). Pittsburgh).
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Figure 12. Cover page to the special Gilmore Drug open house edition of the Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927.
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Figure 13. A view of the recently-completed Gilmore Drug Company Building (upper right), looking southwest from the intersection 
of the Boulevard of the Allies and Grant Street. Wrapping the elevator penthouse are signs for “W.J. Gilmore Drug Co.” (Pittsburgh 
City Photographer Collection, Historic Pittsburgh, 1935).

Figure 14. Another early view of the new Gilmore Building (center), showing the absence of windows on the west facade (Dallin 
Aerial Survey Collection, Hagley Museum and Library, 9 September 1932).

412 Boulevard of the Allies—Historic Nomination Form Time & Place LLC



Figure 15. Front facade of the new Equitable Gas Company headquarters, 
showing the original three-over-three , metal, double-hung sash windows and 
the company’s new sign (Pittsburgh Sun-Telegraph, 23 June 1953).

Figure 16. From 199 to 2017, the building was home to the Art Institute of 
Pittsburgh (Allegheny Conference onCommunity Development, 2012).
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Figure 17. W.J. Gilmore & Company opened in 1886 at 623 
Liberty Avenue (Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927).

Figure 18. Advertisement for W.J. Gilmore & Company 
(Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 1 October 1889).

Figure 19. W.J. Gilmore & Company’s second location, 
showing 430, 428 and 436 Seventh Avenue (Pittsburgh Press, 
19 February 1927).

Figure 20. Advertisement for W.J. Gilmore & Company 
(Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 14 March 1890).
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Figure 21. 1905-06 Sanborn Fire Insurance Map, showing the W.J. Gilmore Drug Company buildings outlined in red.

Figure 22. Advertisement for W.J. Gilmore Drug 
Company, reflecting the addresses shown in the 
map above (Pittsburgh Daily Post, 5 July 1915).

Figure 23. Alexander Dempster 
(Encyclopedia of Pennsylvania 
Biography). 
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Figure 24. Part of the fleet of International Harvester trucks purchased by Gilmore Drug to promote the 
company’s vast line of merchandise (Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 1927).

Figure 25. Officials of the Gilmore Drug Employes’ Association at their inaugural meeting in 1923 (Pittsburgh Post-
Gazette, 11 November 1923).
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Figure 26. Members of the Gilmore staff on their way to a company picnic in  1927 (Pittsburgh Press, 14 August 
1927).

Figure 27. Some of the committee members responsible for planning a company banquet at the William Penn 
Hotel in 1928 (Pittsburgh Press, 18 April 1928).
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Figure 28 (left) and 29 (right), showing some of the products manufactured by Gilmore’s Laboratory Apparatus Division. 
(Industrial and Engineering Chemistry volume 9, (15 April 1937 and 15 November 1937, respectively).
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Figure 30. Remodeled Gilmore Drug showrooms (Pittsburgh Press, 26 September 1941).
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Figure 31. An Advertisement for Portable Products Corporation explaining their various divisions, subdivisions and approach to 
work (The Bulletin Index, 26 April 1947, 39).

Figure 32. Another advertisement for Portable Products 
Corporation (Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 15 October 1947).

Figure 33A. One of one hundred women making radios 
for  Portable Products (Pittsburgh Press, 6 March 1947).
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Figure 34. Portable Products Corporation’s “Roadable” flying 
car was featured on the cover of Aviation News, 4 February 
1946.

Figure 35. It was also featured in Popular Science in April 
1946.

Figure 33B. Electric irons made in 
Pittsburgh by Portable Products were 
available at Gimbel’s (Pittsburgh Sun-

Telegraph, 22 July 1947).
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Figure 36. Albert W. Conover, first 
president of the newly-independent 
Equitable Gas Company (Pittsburgh 
Post-Gazette, 3 March 1950)

Figure 37. Top section of the Weather 
Flame just before installation (Pittsburgh 
Sun-Telegraph, 15 December 1955)

Figure 38. Gulf and Equitable synchronize 
their weather signals (Pittsburgh Post-
Gazette, 18 September 1956).

Figure 39. The Weather Flame atop the Equitable Gas Building, as viewed from across the Monongahela River in 1967 (center). In 
the background can be seen the Gulf Building, with its pyramidal top (Historic Pittsburgh).
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Figure 40. A full-page advertisement touting Equitable’s new weather signal from the day after its installation 
(Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 13 March 1956).
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Figure 41. Donald B. Beecher became 
president of Equitable Gas Company 
in 1957 (Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 28 
January 1952)

Figure 43. The new 5,000-square foot appliance showroom on the first floor of Equitable Gas (Pittsburgh 
Press, 23 April 1963).

Figure 42. Two of the model kitchens in 
the renovated basement of Equitable 
Gas (Pittsburgh Press, 23 April 1963).
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Figure 44. Front facade of Equitable Gas during their diamond-anniversary year, showing how the company utilized the front 
showcase windows for displays and merchandising (Teenie Harris, Carnegie Museum of Art, August 1963).

Figure 45. Vintage postcard of the Union 
Arcade (later, Union Trust Building).

Figure 46. The Croatian Fraternal Union in 1929, showing the full extent 
of its original projecting cornice (Pittsburgh Press, 21 January 1929).
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Figure 49. Frederick Osterling’s office 
and studio at 228 Isabella Street 
(Pittsburgh Press, 8 August 1934).

Figure 47. The McCann Building as it appeared in 1937 from Market Square, with the Wabash Terminal partially 
visible behind it (Historic Pittsburgh).

Figure 48 (inset, at left). Mid-1960s renovations added two floors to the 
McCann Building and covered all vestiges of its Commercial Gothic past 
(Pittsburgh Press, 14 April 1968).

Figure 48. The Salvation Army 
Building, showing its massive 
Gothic Revival front entry arches 
(National Register of Historic 
Places).

Figure 50. Small Commercial Gothic facades 
at 6012-14 and 6018 Penn Avenue (Google 
Street View).
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Figure 51. A list of some of the many 
Pittsburgh enterprises that contributed to 
construction of the Gilmore Drug 
headquarters (Pittsburgh Press, 19 February 
1927).
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Figure 52. Architect Joseph Franklin Kuntz 
(Frank C. Harper, Pittsburgh of Today).

Figure 53. By 1924, Joseph Kuntz had become the owner and 
principal of the W.G. Wilkins Company (Advertisement from the 
Pittsburgh City Directory, 1924).

Figure 54. The Lawrence Paint Building by Joseph Kuntz can be seen in the foreground of this undated post card 
of Pittsburgh’s Golden Triangle.
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Figure 55. The Commercial Building (later the Graphic Arts 
Building), designed by Joseph Kuntz, as it appeared in 1980 
(Lu Donnelly, Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation, 
“Graphic Arts Building,”  Pennsylvania Historic Resource 
Survey Form, 11 March 1980).

Figure 56. The Maul Building on East Carson Street 
(Pittsburgh History & Landmarks Foundation).

Figure 57. The Maul Building, showing a terra cotta detail (Pittsburgh History 
& Landmarks Foundation).
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Figure 58. The Logan Armory prior to its demolition (Carnegie Library of Pittsburgh).

Figure 59. The Frick & Lindsay Building prior to being 
converted into the Andy Warhol Museum (photo 
credit: unknown).

Figure 60. The Captain Alfred E. Hunt Armory in 1922 
(Indiana University Bloomington).
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Figure 62. One of hundreds of gasoline service 
stations designed by Joseph Kuntz (Boston 
Architectural Club, Yearbook, 1922), 126.

Figure XX. (Boston Architectural Club, Yearbook, 1922), 126.

Figure 61. Joseph Kuntz designed to expansion of the Philadelphia 
Company headquarters (1925). Twenty-five years later, Equitable Gas 
would spin off and move into what was then 420 Boulevard of the 
Allies. Today, this is the Hotel Monaco (Pittsburgh Post-Gazette, 25 
June 1925)
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Figure 63. The Gilmore Drug Company Building on the south side of the Boulevard of the Allies, as it appeared 
in 1937 (Pittsburgh City Photographer Collection, Historic Pittsburgh).

Figure 63. The landmark, as it appears today from the same view.
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Some additional historic images that weren’t referenced in the nomination text. . .

Figure 64. As part of its marketing efforts from around the turn of the last century, Gilmore Drug 
commissioned the creation of a deck of playing cards illustrated with various Pittsburgh landmarks. Shown 
here (from left to right) are the Soldiers’ Monument, the Bank of Pittsburgh, a scene on Smithfield Street, the 
Carnegie Building and the Frick Building. The Heinz History Center has a deck in their collections (Pittsburgh 
Press, 1 November 1953).

Figures 65 and 66. Gilmore Drug appears to have developed its own products that it sold under the brand 
name “The Gilco Line.” Shown here are Gilco turmeric and saffron containers previously offered on eBay, 
which contain instructions on the reverse for using the products medicinally. Further research is necessary to 
better understand these offerings, especially since an advertisement in The Proceedings of the 41st Annual 
Meeting of the Maryland Pharmaceutical Association from 1923 offers potentially conflicting information. It 
contains a full-page advertisement for The Henry B. Gilpin Company, which states that they are 
“manufacturers of ‘The Gilco Line’.”
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